

1.0 Preamble

This document addresses the accounting for an accrued benefit asset under Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards (PSAS) by the Province of Ontario in relation to the Ontario Public Sector Employees Union ("OPSEU") Pension Plan ("OPSEUPP" or the "Plan").

As at March 31, 2016, OPSEUPP had an accrued asset position for accounting purposes of \$521 million.

The details of the accounting valuation for the plan for purposes of reporting by the Province of Ontario as of March 31, 2016 are as follows:

(all figures in \$M)	Total plan	50% Share of the plan
Market related value of assets	17,380	8,690
Value of obligation	<u>15,557</u>	<u>7,778</u>
Surplus (deficit)	1,823	912
Unamortized (gains) losses	(96)	(48)
Adjustment for March 31, 2016	<u>(583)</u>	<u>(291)</u>
Asset (liability) position	1,144	573
Specific Province of Ontario adjustment		<u>(52)</u>
Final Accrued Benefit Asset (liability) position on balance sheet		<u>521</u>

2.0 Issue to be considered

1. For accounting purposes, how should OPSEUPP be classified under PSAS?
2. As a result of the classification, how should the Province of Ontario recognize the pension surplus (for accounting purposes) of OPSEUPP in the Public Accounts?
3. How should a pension asset of OPSEUPP be measured in the Public Accounts of the Province of Ontario?

3.0 Conclusions

1. OPSEUPP is a Joint Defined Benefit Plan under PS 3250
2. The Province of Ontario should account for OPSEUPP as a defined benefit plan for its proportionate share of the surplus or obligation that arises under the plan.
3. The Province of Ontario should record its proportionate share of the asset and apply the asset ceiling test under PS 3250. The Province of Ontario believes that the asset is recoverable through the reduction of future contributions and as such, no valuation allowance is necessary.

4.0 Background information

4.1 Overview of OPSEUPP

The Plan is jointly sponsored by the Province of Ontario and the executive of OPSEU. The Plan is managed by OPTrust, a 10-member Board of Trustees, five of whom are appointed by OPSEU and five by the Province of Ontario. The sponsors appoint experienced, professional experts to the OPTrust's

Commented [CV1]: The key issue that I believe we need to draw out in this paper is the difference between the governance structures of OTPP and OPSEU and how that impacts the analysis – I don't think this comes out.

Also – I thought we were going to reference the OTPP paper as the main paper and have this be read in conjunction with that paper.

NPP – we had requested DT to follow that approach (treat the three other plans as a supplement, but they delivered in this format. It's ok in the end to treat each separately).

With regards to the different governance structure.

Board. More specifically, the Province of Ontario and OPSEU each appoint to the Board of Trustees one experienced member to fill the position of Chair and Vice-Chair, with the roles alternating between Province of Ontario and OPSEU appointees every two years.

OPSEU and the Province of Ontario are equally responsible for ensuring the pension plan has the financial resources to meet its long-term pension obligations. Section 4.6 of the Plan Text notes that the Employer shall pay into the Plan an amount equal to the aggregate amount of all contributions deducted from the members.

The assets of the Plan are held by OPTrust in trust for the beneficiaries of the plan – Ontario public servants who work in the broader public sector (approximately 130,000 members across Ontario). The Province of Ontario does not have unilateral access to the assets of the trust nor does it have the right to unilaterally change contribution amounts, take contribution holidays. Actions of this nature require negotiation and agreement between the two sponsors. While access to the assets of the Trust is not in the Province of Ontario's sole control, it should be noted that the Province of Ontario, as a sponsor of the plan, has established a rate stabilization reserve in which surpluses are allocated so that the Province's share of the surplus from the plan is identified and can be used for future decision making on funding and benefit improvements.

The Funding Policy, Board-Approved Policy, dated July 17, 2014

OPTrust provides the following regarding the use of Plan Surpluses:

OPTrust recognizes that decisions on the use of surplus are reserved to the Sponsors. However, in the interests of providing information to the Sponsors, OPTrust has recommended a number of principles for the Sponsors to consider when determining how to use surplus that arises from time to time, designed to minimize the risk to future Plan funding. They are as follows, in order:

1. Use surplus to pay for any past unfunded liability that has not been fully paid through previous valuations where amortization of prior deficits is incomplete.
2. Restore benefits previously lost due to prior deficits.
3. Restore stabilization reserves to recommended levels to protect against future adverse actuarial and investment experience.
4. If the current employee and employer contribution rates are above the normal rate specified in OPTrust Management studies, use surplus to return contributions back to the normal rate.
5. If surplus is still available, consider temporary contribution reductions as the most predictable way to reduce the surplus in the Plan.
6. When considering Plan improvements, establish a preference for temporary benefit improvements over permanent Plan changes since temporary improvements will be prepaid from existing surplus and are less likely to have an impact on future contribution rates.

Commented [CV2]: Roger Smithies' team to insert details on rate stabilization reserve. See above.

7. When considering permanent Plan improvements, recommend those that better rationalize the overall Plan design, such as provisions that present an undue hardship or level of unfairness to Plan members.

Member and Employer Rate Stabilization Reserves

The Sponsors of the OPSEUPP have established two stabilization reserves to deal with actuarial gains when they arise. The Employer and Member Stabilization Reserves are the remaining employer's and members' share of the net actuarial gain. These stabilization reserves are intended to be used as a buffer against any future actuarial losses that may arise.

Gains (and losses) are shared equally by Plan members, subject to the following:

- (i) 50% of the gain or such other amount as may be collectively bargained shall be used for the benefit of employers, to be applied against any special payments required to be made by any employers and thereafter to reduce employers' normal costs [SA, s. 56 (c) (i)]; and
- (ii) 50% of the gain or such other amount as may be collectively bargained shall be used for the benefit of Plan members [SA, s. 56 (c) (ii)].

Excerpts from Plan Text on Withdrawal of Surplus

Section 18.2 of the Plan Text notes that, if the Plan is wound up in whole or in part, the assets in the Fund shall first be allocated for the provision of benefits in accordance with terms of the Plan, the Pension Benefits Act, the Income Tax Act (Canada) and any other applicable legislation or agreement between the sponsors.

Section 18.3 also notes that if after provision for benefits payable to or in respect of members of the wind up, in whole or in part, of the plan, assets remain in the Fund or the part of the Fund affected by a partial windup, such assets shall be applied as determined by OPSEU subject to the Pension Benefits Act and the Income Tax Act (Canada) for the exclusive benefit of the members and former members, their beneficiaries and dependents.

4.2 Accounting for OPSEUPP by the Province of Ontario

The Province of Ontario's Public Accounts as of March 31, 2016 includes an accrued pension asset of \$521M that represents the employer's share of the OPSEUPP surplus position based on the accounting actuarial valuation for the plan. This situation has arisen because, to this point in time, the Province of Ontario's share of the total contributions to the Plan plus the actual investment returns on the Plan's assets have exceeded the Province of Ontario's share of the accumulated retirement benefit expense.

The Province of Ontario recognizes 50% of the accrued benefit asset on its consolidated statement of financial position, which represents the Province of Ontario's Share of the Pension Plan.

5.0 Question 1 – Classification of the OPSEUPP

5.1 Relevant Guidance on Classification

PS 3250 has specific application guidance to Joint Defined Benefit Plans:

Joint defined benefit plans

.079 Governments may participate jointly in defined benefit plans where the government shares the risks and rewards jointly with plan participants, represented by a sponsor or sponsors. Joint defined benefit plans are governed by a formal agreement between the sponsors, which establishes that the sponsors have shared control over the plan. A governing board is generally appointed by the joint sponsors with equal representation and a mutually agreed-upon chair.

.080 A government would consider the characteristics of the plan to determine whether it meets the definition of a joint defined benefit plan. In a joint defined benefit plan, funding contributions are shared mutually between the government and the plan members. The sponsors have control over decisions related to the administration of the plan and the level of benefits and contributions on an ongoing basis based on the terms of the contractual agreement. The sponsors share, on an equitable basis, the significant risks associated with the benefit plan. Risk would not be considered to be equitably shared in an arrangement where the government and the joint sponsors fund the plan equally but where the government retains the full risk of the accrued benefit obligation. If the government retains the residual risks it is unlikely that the plan meets the definition of a joint defined benefit plan.

.081 *When a government participates in a joint defined benefit plan, the government's risk is limited to its portion of the plan. The government should account for its portion of the plan in accordance with the standards for defined benefit plans.* [SEPT. 2001]

.082 A government may convert an existing defined benefit plan for which it is the sole sponsor to a joint defined benefit plan where the risks and benefits are shared. When converting to a joint plan, a government would consider whether there are any special accounting issues that arise, including whether the predecessor plan has been settled or partially settled and/or curtailed or partially curtailed. In assessing such issues a government would have regard to its specific circumstances and the terms of the joint defined benefit plan.

5.2 Conclusion on classification

Application of PS 3250 to Joint Defined Benefit Plans

A joint defined benefit plan is a unique retirement benefit plan where the sponsors have shared control over the plan. No one party can, by itself, control decisions around funding, benefits and other matters; funding contributions, risks and benefits are to be shared mutually between the sponsors. This is the case for OPSEUPP where the Province and OPSEU are joint sponsors. This classification has been applied consistently by the Province for OPSEUPP for over the last 10 years. Paragraph .081 of PS 3250 clearly states that a government should account for its portion of the Plan in accordance with the standards for defined benefit plans. As a result, the Province of Ontario accounts for its proportionate share of the Plan and has historically recorded its share as 50% of the Plan.

Commented [CV3]: Why 10 years? What happened before then? **Pauline to advise**

6.0 Question 2 – Recognition of surplus

6.1 Standards in the PSA Handbook

The following standards were considered relevant when determining whether an asset can be recognized in the Public Accounts:

.081 When a government participates in a joint defined benefit plan, the government's risk is limited to its portion of the plan. The government should account for its portion of the plan in accordance with the standards for defined benefit plans. [SEPT. 2001]

.050 An accrued benefit asset should be presented on a government's statement of financial position net of any valuation allowance. When a defined benefit plan gives rise to an accrued benefit asset, a government should recognize a valuation allowance for any excess of the adjusted benefit asset over the expected future benefit. A change in valuation allowance should be recognized in the statement of operations for the period in which the change occurs. [SEPT. 2001]

.051 A government with a defined benefit plan may have an accrued benefit asset for accounting purposes. An accrued benefit asset arises when the government's total contributions to the plan, including interest earned thereon, are greater than the retirement benefit expense recognized since the start of the plan. Contributions reflect the funding objectives of the plan. The benefit expense reflects the accounting objectives and may differ for a number of reasons, including the fact that actuarial gains and losses are deferred and amortized in future periods.

.052 A government may benefit from an accrued benefit asset either by withdrawing surplus assets or by taking a contribution holiday or receiving a refund of contributions. The accrued benefit asset may become impaired when there is a plan surplus for accounting purposes that the government is not entitled to benefit from fully. For example, there may be a regulatory moratorium on pension surplus withdrawals or uncertainties as to a government's legal right to use a plan's accounting surplus.

6.2 Analysis

PS 3250.50 requires that an accrued benefit asset should be presented on a government's statement of financial position net of any valuation allowance. When a defined benefit plan gives rise to an accrued benefit asset, a government should recognize a valuation allowance for any excess of the adjusted benefit asset over the expected future benefit. This comparison between the adjusted benefit asset and the expected future benefit informs whether a valuation allowance is required and if so, how much of a valuation allowance should be recorded.

PS 3250.52 contemplates that there are two ways in which a government can benefit from an accrued benefit asset. A government may benefit from an accrued benefit asset either by withdrawing surplus assets or by taking a contribution holiday or receiving a refund of contributions. As such, an expected future benefit would include the ability to either withdraw plan assets from the Plan or reduce future contributions.

PS3250.52 also goes on to consider that an accrued benefit asset may become impaired when there is a Plan surplus that the government is not entitled to benefit from fully. The paragraphs in the standard

that follow determine how a government would go about considering the extent of any impairment, which would give rise to a valuation allowance. In order to make this determination, the government is required to consider the “expected future benefit”, which would effectively create a ceiling for the asset. Here the guidance diverges between benefit expected to be realized through future reductions in contributions and those to be realized through withdrawal of surplus.

Specifically with respect to withdrawal of surplus, PS 3250.59 is very clear that expected future benefit can only be asserted where the Province of Ontario has a current legally enforceable right to withdraw assets from the Plan. This guidance was considered as to whether it should be applied to cases where the expected future benefit related to the Pension Asset is expected to be realized through reduced contributions; however it was concluded that the guidance does not apply in this situation. While PS 3250.59 does introduce the concept of a legally enforceable right, it does so solely in the context of a government’s future withdrawal of a Plan surplus, and not in the context of a government’s reduction of future contributions.

OPSEUPP has established two rate stabilization reserves, being one for the employers and one for the employees. The Funding Management Policy establishes that actuarial gains must be shared equally amongst the Sponsors. As actuarial gains are generated, the Province of Ontario has the ability to use its 50% of the gain to reduce contributions.

Commented [CV4]: I don’t understand the context of this paragraph in this section. Roger Smithies’ team to clarify, with reference to explanation of rate stabilization reserve to be inserted above.

6.3 Conclusion

The Province of Ontario should account for OPSEUPP as a joint defined benefit plan, which means applying PS 3250 defined benefit accounting for its share of the Plan. As the Plan is in an asset position, the Province of Ontario should reflect its proportion of the asset (50%) subject to any valuation allowance.

7.0 Question 3 – Measurement of a pension asset

7.1 Standards in the PSA Handbook

The following standards are relevant to determining how the Pension Asset should be measured

.053 To determine the extent to which an accrued benefit asset may be impaired, the government first determines the adjusted benefit asset. The adjusted benefit asset is the accrued benefit asset less net unamortized actuarial losses (determined on a basis using market value of assets).

.054 The adjusted benefit asset is then compared to the expected future benefit. When the expected future benefit exceeds the adjusted benefit asset, the accrued benefit asset is not impaired and, accordingly, no valuation allowance is required. The chart included as Appendix A to this Section is intended to set out the relationship between the various defined terms.

.055 The objective of the standard in paragraph PS 3250.50 is to limit a government’s accrued benefit asset to the amount it can realize in the future. The expected future benefit is a calculated amount representing the benefit a government expects to realize from a plan surplus. An expected future benefit includes any withdrawable surplus or reduction in future contributions.

.056 A government determines its expected future benefit as the sum of:

- a) the present value of its expected future accruals for service for the current number of active employees, less the present value of required employee contributions and minimum contributions the government is required to make regardless of any surplus; and
- b) the amount of the plan surplus that can be withdrawn in accordance with the existing plan and any applicable laws and regulations.

.057 A government's expected future accruals for service for the current number of active employees are determined on a basis consistent with that used to determine its accrued benefit obligation. These expected future accruals for service, less required employee contributions and minimum contributions the government is required to make regardless of any surplus, are then discounted back to the current period to determine the present value. The interest rate used to calculate this present value is the expected rate of return on plan assets used to determine the benefit expense in the period.

.058 When administration expenses are paid by the plan and included in the normal cost calculation, a best estimate of the future administration expense is included in the expected future accruals for service. When administration expenses are paid by the plan and not included in the normal cost calculation, the rate of return on plan assets is adjusted to reflect the deduction of the administrative expenses.

.059 A key factor in determining a government's expected future benefit from a defined benefit plan with a plan surplus for accounting purposes is the ability of the government to withdraw assets from the plan. The expected future benefit includes amounts to which a government has a legally enforceable right of withdrawal. It excludes any withdrawable plan surplus a government is currently required, or intends, to allocate to employees. A government may not anticipate obtaining a legally enforceable right to withdraw a portion of a plan surplus to which it is not currently entitled, whether on the basis of precedent or otherwise. Accordingly, when withdrawal of plan surplus requires the approval of employees or an appropriate regulatory authority or a court of law, a government excludes any amount subject to this restriction from its expected future benefit until such approval has been obtained. A change in the allocation of surplus between a government and its employees is incorporated into the calculation of the expected future benefit only when it has been agreed to and, when required, approved by the appropriate regulatory authorities

7.2 Calculating the limit on the carrying amount of an accrued benefit asset

Section PS 3250 paragraphs .053 to .058 lay out a mathematical calculation that determines the value of the adjusted benefit asset and the expected future benefit, and tests whether a government can expect to recover its accrued benefit asset through a withdrawal of surplus or through the reduction of future contributions. The stated objective of this exercise, as set out in Section PS3250 paragraph .055, is to limit the amount of the government's accrued benefit asset to the amount "it can realize in the future." The expected future benefit is further described as "a calculated amount representing the benefit a government expects to realize from a plan surplus". A valuation allowance is recorded against the pension asset to limit the asset value, if necessary, based on this analysis. This is a prescriptive test

under Section PS 3250, specifically that the amount of an asset is limited to the “expected future benefit” as defined in Section 3250 paragraph .56.

Therefore in accordance with Section PS 3250 paragraph .56 the Province of Ontario calculated the expected future benefit as the sum of:

- a) the present value of its expected future accruals for service for the current number of active employees, less the present value of required employee contributions and minimum contributions the government is required to make regardless of any surplus; and
- b) the amount of the plan surplus that can be withdrawn in accordance with the existing plan and any applicable laws and regulations.

Each of these is discussed separately.

7.3 Considerations re: withdrawal of the surplus (Section PS 3250 paragraph .056 (b))

In relation to the ability of a government to benefit from a surplus through the withdrawal of the surplus, Section 3250 paragraph .059 indicates “The expected future benefit includes amounts to which a government has a legally enforceable right of withdrawal.”

For OPSEUPP, the Funding Policy does not contemplate surplus withdrawal and so for the purposes of this analysis, it is assumed that any surplus withdrawal would have to be negotiated between the sponsors.

Commented [CV5]: On page 3 of this paper we have included section 18.2 and 18.3 – how have those sections been considered in this section? Roger Smithies' team to respond/edit as required.

There are no provisions in the OPSEU Plan text to permit the withdrawal of a surplus. PS 3250.59 indicates that the expected future benefit includes amounts to which a government has a legally enforceable right of withdrawal. As there is no certainty that the Province will be able to access an OPSEUPP surplus through withdrawal, the Province cannot rely on withdrawal of surplus to support the measurement of the OPSEUPP accrued benefit asset.

7.4 Considerations re: reduced future contributions (Section PS 3250 paragraph .056 (a))

Section PS 3250 paragraph .056(a) sets out that the government’s calculation of expected future benefit would be the present value of its expected future accruals for service for the current number of active employees, less the present value of required employee contributions and minimum contributions the government is required to make regardless of any surplus.

In the event of a surplus, OPTrust recommends to the Sponsors certain principles be followed when determining how to use the surplus. The recommendation from OPTrust is to allocate actuarial gains to any unfunded liabilities or restore cuts to benefits due to prior deficits, before moving into the rate stabilization reserves, reducing contributions, and then restoring benefits. Appendix A provides a history of the allocation of actuarial gains (losses) from January 1, 1993 to December 31, 2014. As such, there are two significant indicators that lead the Province to believe that future contributions can be reduced, which are:

1. The Province has its own rate stabilization reserve that can be utilized to reduce future contributions (so the Province has some autonomy and segregation of its 50% of the surplus)
2. The Funding Principles of the plan put an emphasis on restoring unfunded liabilities (which will reduce contributions in the future), and reducing current contributions, before enhancing benefits.

Commented [CV6]: What does “some” mean in this context? How is this autonomy impacted by the requirement that the contributions remain equal? Roger Smithies’ team to review and edit to clarify.

Commented [CV7]: Can you provide more clarity on this point – not following Roger Smithies’ team to review and edit.

In determining the expected future benefit of the asset, the Province has looked at the present value of its expected future accruals for service for the current number of active employees, less the present value of required employee contributions and minimum contributions the Province is required to make regardless of any surplus. As there are no minimum contributions that the Province is required regardless of surplus, the expected future benefit will exceed the plan asset because the expected future benefit will equate to the expected future accruals for service for the current active employees (less employee contributions).

Commented [CV8]: Why is this the case? Roger Smithies to confirm and expand for additional context.

7.5 Conclusion on measurement

The OPSEUPP is in a surplus position for accounting purposes and therefore it is appropriate to recognize an accrued benefit asset on the Province of Ontario’s consolidated statement of financial position. The measurement of that accrued benefit asset is subject to the asset ceiling test. The Province of Ontario performed as asset ceiling test on OPSEUPP and it was determined that no valuation allowance was necessary. The expected future benefit from the asset is the amount of contributions that could be reduced in the future from this surplus. As each of the Plan Sponsors have their own stabilization reserves, and the Funding Policy promotes contribution reduction ahead of benefit improvement, the expected future benefit exceeds the net plan asset, which means there is no basis to require the recording of a valuation allowance.

Appendix A- History of Allocation of Actuarial Gains (Losses) (in millions)

OPSEUPP may have actuarial gains or losses each year because the actual events during the year (“experience”) do not exactly match the long-term assumptions previously made. Actuarial gains or losses on plan assets occur because the actual investment returns were higher or lower than anticipated. Gains or losses on actuarial liabilities can occur because long-term assumptions (e.g., mortality, salary increases, termination, retirement, economic) differed from actual experience. These gains or losses are amortized under PSAS. Changes in the unfunded actuarial liability may also be amortized where due to changes in actuarial assumptions or methods.

Under the OPSEUPP Sponsorship Agreement, no agreement or amendment to the Plan shall provide for or permit any payment of surplus out of the Fund to the Province of Ontario, or any employer participating in the Plan. For greater certainty, the use of actuarial gains to offset Employer Contributions and any going concern unfunded liability or solvency deficiency does not constitute the payment of surplus out of the Fund.

In its history, the OPSEU Pension Plan has not reported excess surplus as per section 147.2(2) of the Income Tax Act.

The Employer and Member Stabilization Funds are the remaining employer’s and members’ share of the net actuarial gain. These funds are to be used as a buffer against any future actuarial losses that may arise.

Please see the table which follows for a history of the allocation of actuarial gains (losses) from January 1, 1993 to December 31, 2014.

Commented [CV9]: Please explain the table below. Roger Smithies’ team to review information for context. Only members appear to have reduced contributions in the past.

Employer Actuarial Gain Allocation						Member Allocation of Actuarial Gain			
<i>Effective Date of Report</i>	<i>Transferred Initial Liability</i>	<i>Actuarial Gain / (Loss) Since Prior Report</i>	<i>Unfunded Liability</i>	<i>Benefit Improvements</i>	<i>Rate Stabilization Fund</i>	<i>Benefit Improvements (inc. CBA)</i>	<i>Contribution Reductions</i>	<i>Rate Stabilization Fund</i>	<i>Fund Going Concern Deficit</i>
01-Jan-93	\$ 663								
01-Jan-94	\$ 710								
31-Dec-95	\$ 745	72	\$ 72						
31-Dec-98	\$ 153	1,334	\$ 667			\$ 486	\$ 150	\$ 31	
31-Dec-01	\$ -	867	\$ 63	\$ 30	\$ 298	\$ 224	\$ 77	\$ 148	
31-Dec-03	\$ -	(255)			\$ 337			\$ 185	
31-Dec-04	\$ -	(183)			\$ 276			\$ 185	
31-Dec-07		470	\$ 72		\$ 496			\$ 383	\$ 72
31-Dec-08	\$ -	(606)	\$ 32		\$ 411			\$ 409	\$ 32
31-Dec-10	\$ -	(586)	\$ 66		\$ 445			\$ 397	\$ 66
31-Dec-12	\$ -	(530)	\$ 95		\$ 329			\$ 235	\$ 95
31-Dec-13	\$ -	0	\$ 239		\$ 98			\$ 9	\$ 239
31-Dec-14	\$ -	0			\$ 104			\$ 10	